STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Spartanburg County

J. Mark Hayes, II, Circuit Court Judge

IN THE MATTER OF THE CARE AND
TREATMENT OF WILLIAM J. WILDE,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-000531

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LANELLE CANTEY DURANT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

RECEIVED
MAR 31 2014
SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial court err in allowing the expert to testify as to the details of the sexual assault as described by the non-testifying victim which were hearsay as they went beyond time and place and violated Rule 801(d)(1)(D), SCRE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In March 1998, Wilde appeared in circuit court and entered a guilty plea to committing a lewd act on a child under the age of sixteen. Judge Rawl sentenced Appellant Wilde to ten years suspended to twenty-four months probation. In November 2004, Wilde entered a guilty plea to committing a lewd act on a minor under the age of sixteen and was sentenced to fifteen years incarceration.

In 2012, prior to his release from the Department of Corrections, Wilde was referred to the Multi-Disciplinary Team who determined that probable cause existed that Wilde was a sexually violent predator.

Dr. Marie Gehle, Chief Psychologist with the Department of Mental Health, was ordered by the trial court to complete an evaluation of Wilde. R. 82, ll. 13 – 25; R. 86, ll. 9-10. Dr. Gehle determined that Wilde suffered from pedophilia that predisposed him to commit sexually violent offenses which posed a menace to the health and safety of children. R. 104, ll. 16 – R. 106, ll. 25.

On October 15-16, 2012, Wilde proceeded to trial before the Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II, and a jury to determine if he were a sexually violent predator. Wilde was represented by Ray E. Thompson and Darryl L. Bush. The state was represented by Lloyd V. Flores, Jr. The jury found that Wilde was a sexually violent predator pursuant to S.C. Code Section 44-48-30.

On October 17, 2012, Judge Hayes signed the order committing Way to the Department of Mental Health for long term control, care and treatment. Wilde's attorney filed a notice of appeal. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

According to the testimony of the expert, Dr. Marie Gehle, Wilde was convicted via guilty plea in 1998 to committing a lewd act on a child under the age of sixteen which occurred on May 30, 1997. Wilde was sentenced to ten years suspended to twenty-four months probation. R. 95, ll. 23 – R. 96, ll. 23.

The incident involved Wilde's eight year old biological son who said that while he was on an overnight visit with Wilde, the child awoke to Wilde allegedly fondling the child's penis. Defense counsel objected on the ground of hearsay. The judge allowed the testimony to continue, and instructed counsel that he could cross-examine the witness on those questions. R. 97, ll. 1 – 12.

The testimony continued with Dr. Gehle stating that the child awoke to his penis being fondled by Wilde who stopped when the child awoke. The child also stated that Wilde told him he better not tell anyone. R. 97, ll. 13 – 19.

Wilde pled guilty in 2004 to committing a lewd act on a child under the age of sixteen which occurred April 15, 2001, and February 7, 2002. Wilde was sentenced to fifteen years incarceration. The child was the four year old daughter of Wilde's stepdaughter. Dr. Gehle testified that the child reported that while she was visiting Wilde, Wilde fondled her genitals and licked her genitals. R. 97, ll. 23 – R. 99, ll. 23.

In a pretrial proffer of Dr. Gehle's testimony, she described two twenty-six year old offenses from North Carolina in 1986 where the charges of indecent liberties with a child were dismissed. R. 6, ll. 19 – R. 7, ll. 25; R. 30, ll. 14 – 25. The doctor related that the child was the nine year old niece of Wilde's wife. The child said that Wilde fondled her vagina and breasts on numerous occasions, and that the incidents occurred while she was lying on

the sofa in the early morning. Defense counsel objected to the hearsay which the judge allowed because it was a proffer. R. 31, ll. 1 – 25. The judge did exclude the two 1986 offenses from being admitted as they were highly prejudicial and the prejudice outweighed the probative value. R. 55, ll. 17 – R. 56, ll. 19.

The judge, earlier in a pretrial motion, stated: “Experts can base their opinion on information that’s hearsay upon hearsay, and it can base their opinion on information that would not be admitted directly in a court of law to prove the facts of, of, what’s trying to be established. I think expert opinions have, in my words, a more liberal use of information in forming their opinions.” R. 20, ll. 1 – 14.

Defense counsel, in describing the sources of Dr. Gehle’s of information that she relied on, argued to the court that she relied on police reports and one two hour and thirty minute interview with Wilde. There was no indication that she had actual communication with anyone other than Wilde. R. 19, ll.20 – 25.

Dr. Gehle admitted that in her interview with Wilde, he denied committing all of the offenses. R. 32, ll. 4 – 11. She also admitted that she did not have any other interviews with anyone other than Wilde. R. 33, ll. 21 – R. 34, ll. 1.

Dr. Gehle diagnosed Wilde as suffering from pedophilia, meaning he was attracted to prepubescent children. He was also attracted to adults as he had been married several times. In her opinion, he met the legal criteria to be a sexually violent predator, and needed to be confined in a secure facility for long term control, care, and treatment. R. 104, ll. 16 – R. 108, ll. 2.

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in allowing the expert to testify as to the details of the sexual assault as described by the non-testifying victim which were hearsay as they went beyond time and place and violated Rule 801(d)(1)(D), SCRE.

Rule 801, SCRE, provides that hearsay is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted. Rule 802, SCRE, provides that hearsay is not admissible except as provided by these rules or by other rules prescribed by the Supreme Court of this State or by statute.

Rule 801(d) (1) (D), SCRE. This Rule of Evidence, that sexual assault victim's prior consistent statements limited to time and place of alleged incident are not hearsay, if victim testifies at trial and is subject to cross-examination, allows other witnesses to testify that victim complained of assault, but only as to time and place; it specifically circumscribes such testimony by excluding details or particulars. State v. Jeffcoat, 350 S.C. 392, 565 S.E.2d 321 (Ct. App. 2002); citing Rule 801(d) (1) (D), SCRE; Sanchez v. State, 351 S.C. 270, 569 S.E.2d 363 (2002).

In Vail v. State, 402 S.C. 77, 738 S.E.2d 503 (Ct. App. 2013), the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court and granted Vail's PCR because trial counsel's failure to object to the hearsay testimony concerning the alleged sexual relationship between the victim and the defendant in this criminal sexual conduct with a minor case which was inadmissible, constituted deficient performance and fell below professional norms. The Court wrote:

In a CSC case, the testimony of a witness regarding the victim's out-of-court statement is not hearsay when the declarant testifies at the trial and is subject to cross examination concerning the statement, and the statement is consistent with the declarant's testimony in a CSC case or attempted CSC case where the declarant is the alleged victim and the statement is limited **to the time and place of the incident.**

The Court then wrote that “any other details or particulars including the perpetrator’s identity, must be excluded.”

Rule 703, SCRE, provides that the facts and data relied on by an expert upon which he based his opinion need not be admissible in evidence if of a type reasonably relied upon by experts in the particular filed in forming opinions. The facts and data may be those perceived by or made known to the expert at or before the hearing.

Rule 705, SCRE, provides that the expert may testify in terms of opinion or inference without first testifying to the underlying facts or data, unless the court requires otherwise. The expert in any event may be required to disclose the underlying facts or data on cross-examination.

Rule 403, SCRE which provides that relevant evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. The child did not testify in Wilde’s SVP case. There was no evidence the child testified at the guilty plea. The expert admitted that she did not speak with the child nor any other witnesses other than Wilde who denied committing the incidents.” R. 33, ll. 21 – R. 34, ll. 1. Allowing the details, which were hearsay, was extremely prejudicial to Wilde.

In Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts, 557 U.S. 305 (2009), the United States Supreme Court held that the Confrontation Clause did not permit the prosecution to introduce a forensic laboratory report containing a testimonial certification-made for the purpose of proving a particular fact- through the in-court testimony of a scientist who did not sign the certification or perform or observe the test reported in the certification. The Court wrote that “surrogate testimony of that order does not meet the constitutional requirement.”

This same principle applied to Wilde's case as the expert had never talked with the child, and relied only on police reports which had not been validated.