**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal From Spartanburg County  
The Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2013-000531

---

IN THE MATTER OF THE CARE AND TREATMENT OF  
WILLIAM J. WILDE,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
SC Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**RECEIVED**

APR 04 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal From Spartanburg County

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

The circuit court properly exercised its discretion in allowing the court appointed expert to testify regarding limited details of Appellant's sexual offenses because they were relevant to the expert's opinion regarding Appellant's mental status for purposes of commitment as a sexually violent predator.

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Respondent concurs with Appellant's procedural Statement of the Case.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

In August 2002, the Spartanburg County Grand Jury indicted Appellant William J. Wilde on one count of first degree criminal sexual conduct, arising from the sexual battery of a four year old female. Pursuant to a plea agreement, Appellant pled guilty to the lesser charge of lewd act on a minor, and was sentenced to fifteen years incarceration. (State's Exhibit 2; Record on Appeal [R.], pp. 231-233).

In accordance with the Sexually Violent Predator Act ("SVP Act"), prior to Appellant's release from incarceration, Respondent State of South Carolina (the "State") commenced a civil commitment proceeding in the Greenville County Court of Common Pleas on October 12, 2011. On September 18, 2012, the circuit court found probable cause to believe Appellant met the criteria for commitment as a sexually violent predator, and appointed Dr. Marie Gehle to conduct a mental health evaluation of Appellant. Dr. Gehle diagnosed Appellant with the mental abnormality of pedophilia, sexually attracted to both sexes, and found he met the criteria for commitment under the SVP Act. (Trial Transcript [TT], pp. 122-125; R., pp 105-108).

The case was called for a jury trial on October 15, 2012, before the Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II, Circuit Court Judge. Appellant moved to prohibit Dr. Gehle from testifying about charges against Appellant in North Carolina that were subsequently dismissed. The circuit court granted the motion, and instructed the State and Dr. Gehle not to mention those charges during the State's case. (TT, pp. 24-26, 69-71; R., pp. 9-11; 54-56).

After she was qualified as an expert in psychology and forensic psychology, Dr. Gehle testified that when performing Appellant's evaluation, she reviewed and relied on records regarding his criminal history, including police reports and witness statements,

and his record while incarcerated. She stated that was the type of information typically relied on by experts in her field, and it formed a part of the basis for her ultimate opinion. (TT, pp. 99-106; R. pp. 82-89).

Dr. Gehle then testified about Appellant's sexually violent convictions, which included two counts of lewd act on a minor. Appellant objected to introduction of the underlying arrest warrants on those charges, as well as a solicitor's hand-written note on the back of the indictments. The court sustained the objection, and the State removed the arrest warrants and solicitor's statement from the documents before introducing them as evidence. (TT, pp. 106-112, State's Exhibits 1 and 2; R., pp. 89-95; 224-233).

Dr. Gehle stated Appellant pled no contest to a lewd act on a child charge on March 23, 1998, and was sentenced to ten years incarceration, suspended on two years probation. Appellant was also required to register as a sex offender, and to attend mental health counseling for sex offenders. She testified the victim was Appellant's eight year old son, who was visiting Appellant overnight. (TT; pp. 113-114; R., pp. 96-97).

Over Appellant's hearsay objection, Dr. Gehle testified the victim woke up to find Appellant fondling his penis. Dr. Gehle stated the victim reported Appellant stopped when he woke up, and told the victim he better not tell anyone. (TT, p. 114; R., pp. 97).

Dr. Gehle testified Appellant also pled no contest to another lewd act on a child charge on November 1, 2004, for offenses occurring between April 15, 2001, and February 7, 2002, and was sentenced to fifteen years incarceration. The victim was Appellant's four year old stepdaughter, who reported Appellant fondled and licked her genitals. (TT, pp. 115-116; R., pp. 98-99).

Dr. Gehle indicated the underlying behavior was significant for purposes of her opinion because of the age and gender of the victims, and both offenses involved physical

contact with the victims. When Dr. Gehle asked Appellant about the convictions, he denied committed both offenses. He also told her he attended sex offender treatment “somewhere around” 1989 to 1991, and again in 1999 after the first conviction, but Dr. Gehle was unable to recover any records from that treatment. (R., pp. 116-117; R., pp. 99-100).

Based on her review of records and her interview with Appellant, Dr. Gehle determined to a reasonable degree of psychological certainty Appellant had the mental abnormality of pedophilia, sexually attracted to both sexes. She further opined to a reasonable degree of psychological certainty Appellant’s pedophilia predisposes him to commit acts of sexual violence (TT, pp. 117-123; R., pp. 100-106).

Dr. Gehle testified she premised her opinion on Appellant’s history of sexually offending, particularly the facts that he offended after being detected by the law, and after attending treatment, indicating he was compelled to commit the offenses even though he knew he could get in trouble. She also found significant the fact he offended against children who knew him which meant the offenses could be easily detected and the victims could readily identify him. She opined to a reasonable degree of psychological certainty Appellant was dangerous and likely to commit acts of sexual violence, he posed a menace to the health and safety of others, he had serious difficulty controlling his deviant behavior toward children, and needed to be confined in a secure facility for long term control, care and treatment. (TT, pp. 123-124; R., pp. 106-107).

The jury found beyond a reasonable doubt Appellant was a sexually violent predator as defined by the SVP Act. The circuit court denied Appellant’s post-trial motions, and committed Appellant to the custody of the S.C. Department of Mental

Health for long term control, care and treatment. (TT, pp. 251-254; R., pp. 220-223).

This appeal followed.

## ARGUMENT

**The circuit court properly exercised its discretion in determining the details of Appellant's sexual offenses were relevant to the court appointed expert's analysis and opinion regarding Appellant's mental status for purposes of commitment as a sexually violent predator.**

Appellant contends the trial court erred in allowing Dr. Gehle to testify regarding the underlying facts of his criminal offenses because their prejudicial effect outweighed their probative value. He argues the testimony was improper under Rule 802, SCRE, because her testimony was based on hearsay, and under Rule 801(d)(1)(D), SCRE, because the testimony went beyond time and place of the incidents.

“Generally, all relevant evidence is admissible,” and “evidence is relevant if it tends to establish or make more or less probable the matter in controversy.” In the Matter of the Care and Treatment of Ettel, 377 S.C. 558, 660 S.E.2d 285 (Ct. App. 2008); *see also* State v. Brooks, 341 S.C. 57, 533 S.E.2d 325, 328 (2000) (same); State v. King, 349 S.C. 142, 561 S.E.2d 640, 645 (Ct. App. 2002) (same); Rule 401, SCRE. The decision to admit contested evidence rests within the sound discretion of the trial judge. Ettel, 660 S.E.2d at 287; State v. Weaverling, 337 S.C. 460, 523 S.E.2d 787 (Ct. App. 1999). Appellate courts will not disturb the trial court's rulings regarding admissibility of evidence absent prejudicial abuse of discretion. State v. Needs, 333 S.C. 134, 508 S.E.2d 857 (1998); Ettel, 660 S.E.2d at 287.

Evidence is unfairly prejudicial if it creates an undue tendency to suggest a verdict on an improper basis. State v. Dickerson, 341 S.C. 391, 535 S.E.2d 119, 123 (2000). Unfair prejudice does not mean damage to the defendant's case resulting from the legitimate probative force of the contested evidence. State v. Ford, 334 S.C. 444, 513, S.E.2d 385, 389 (Ct. App. 1999). A determination regarding the prejudicial effect of

evidence must be based on the entire record, with the result generally turning on the facts of each case. Brooks, 533 S.E.2d at 328; Dickerson, 535 S.E.2d at 123.

“[A]n expert witness may state an opinion based on facts not within his or her firsthand knowledge.” In re Manigo, 389 S.C. 96, 697 S.E.2d 629, 634 (Ct. App. 2010) (citing Hundley ex rel. Hundley v. Rite Aid of S.C., Inc., 339 S.C. 285, 29 S.E.2d 45 [Ct.App. 2000]); *see also* Rule 703, SCRE. Further, the expert may base his or her opinion on information, whether or not admissible, made available before the hearing if the information is of the type reasonably relied upon in the field to make opinions, and **“may testify as to matters of hearsay for the purpose of showing what information he or she relied on in giving an opinion of value.”** *Id.* (emphasis added).

In this case, Appellant did not object to admission of the indictments from his two lewd act convictions, which were admissible under In the Matter of the Care and Treatment of Corley, 353 S.C. 202, 577 S.E.2d 451 (2003). While the indictments established the qualifying convictions, as in most cases, they contained very minimal information regarding the specifics of the offenses. In particular, the indictments only referred to the victims as “a child under the age of sixteen,” and did not indicate the relationships, if any, between Appellant and the victims. (State’s Exhibits 1 and 2; R., pp. 224-233).

Dr. Gehle testified she reviewed police records and incident reports as part of Appellant’s evaluation, which are the type of records typically relied on by forensic psychologists. She further testified she considered and relied on the information she reviewed as part of the basis for her opinion regarding Appellant’s mental status. (TT, pp. 105-106; R., pp. 88-89).

As to Appellant's convictions, Dr. Gehle stated it was important to the evaluation for her to review the underlying facts of those convictions. The victim in Appellant's 1998 lewd act conviction was Appellant's eight year old son, who woke up to find Appellant fondling his penis. Appellant's 2004 lewd act conviction involved a four year old female, who reported he fondled and licked her genitals. Dr. Gehle testified the age and gender of the victims was significant, as well as the fact the offenses included physical contact with the victims.<sup>1</sup> (TT, pp. 113-116; R., pp. 96-99).

Dr. Gehle stated the fact both victims were prepubescent at the time of the offenses supported her diagnosis of pedophilia, and the fact they were different genders indicated Appellant was sexually attracted to both genders. She then testified about the risk factors for re-offending indicated by the facts and circumstances of the offenses, and concluded Appellant was likely to commit future acts of sexual violence. (TT, pp. 116-125; R., pp. 99-108).

As a threshold matter, Dr. Gehle's testimony regarding information she reviewed in the police reports was not offered for the truth of the matter asserted, but as part of the basis for her opinion. *See State v. Slocumb*, 336 S.C. 619, 521 S.E.2d 507, 518-519 (Ct. App. 1999) (expert testimony regarding the contents of a MRI report was not offered for the truth of the matter asserted therein, but as a basis for the experts' opinion at trial under Rule 703, SCRE). Therefore, her testimony was not hearsay evidence under Rule 801(c), SCRE. Even if her testimony did include hearsay evidence, however, the circuit court did not err in allowing it.

---

<sup>1</sup>The 1997 indictment leading to Appellant's 1998 conviction contained more offense details than the indictment related to his 2004 conviction. The only information Dr. Gehle related that was not included in the indictment itself was the specific age of the victim and his familial relationship with Appellant.

“Facts, data or opinions reasonably relied upon under Rule 703 may be disclosed to the jury on either direct or cross-examination to assist the jury in evaluating the expert's opinion by considering its bases.” Slocumb, 521 S.E.2d at 518 (quoting 2 Michael H. Graham, *Handbook of Federal Evidence* § 703.1, at 110 [4th ed. 1996]). “This is true even if the facts, data or opinions have not themselves been admitted and thus may not be considered for their truth.” *Id.*

The information at issue in this case was necessary for Dr. Gehle to provide the jury with the basis for her expert opinion, without which her opinion testimony would be of little use to the jury in determining whether Appellant met the criteria for commitment as a sexually violent predator. Her recitation of the underlying facts was not graphic, and only contained the details she considered relevant to the evaluation, and she explained the significance of the information for diagnostic purposes, as well as her assessment of Appellant's risk to re-offend.

Dr. Gehle's testimony clearly indicated information from police reports and other records associated with a criminal offense is the type of “facts or data” contemplated by Rule 703, SCRE. See Corley, 577 S.E.2d at 454 (expert's testimony illustrated why the details of an offense was directly relevant to the ultimate issue of an SVP case); Ettel, 660 S.E.2d at 288 (expert's testimony regarding prior sexual offenses admissible because it established a pattern of behavior significant to determination of risk to re-offend); see also State v. Hutto, 325 S.C. 221, 224, 481 S.E.2d 432, 433 (1997) (expert may base his opinion on hearsay evidence if it is of a type reasonably relied upon by other experts in the field). Further, as in Manigo, Corley and Ettel, Dr. Gehle testified the underlying facts of Appellant's offenses were relevant and significant considerations in her evaluation of Appellant's mental status and likelihood to re-offend. (TT, pp. 113-116; R.,

pp. 96-99). Her testimony was the type of expert testimony allowed under the Rules of Evidence and case precedent.

Appellant's cites Rule 801(d)(1)(D), SCRE, and Vail v. State, 402 S.C. 77, 738 S.E.2d 503 (Ct. App. 2013), are authority for his contention Dr. Gehle's testimony regarding the underlying facts of his criminal offenses was inadmissible because it was not limited to the time and place of the alleged offenses. Rule 801(d) provides a victim's prior consistent statements in a "criminal sexual conduct case" are not hearsay when the statements are limited to time and place of the incident. The instant case is not a "criminal sexual conduct case," and therefore, the "time and place" limitation of Rule 801(d) does not apply.

In Vail, the South Carolina Court of Appeals granted post-conviction relief from the defendant's criminal sexual conduct conviction, holding the criminal defense lawyer was ineffective in failing to object to witness testimony regarding the victim's prior statements because the statements were not limited to time and place as required under Rule 801(d). 738 S.E.2d at 509. As discussed above, Rule 801(d) does not apply to this case, and likewise, the holding and analysis of Vail do not apply.

The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in admitting Dr. Gehle's testimony regarding the information she considered in reaching her expert opinion. Therefore, the jury verdict should be affirmed.